FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
2/2/2024
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

FILED
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington
1/31/2024 11:47 AM

102773-7

Court of Appeals No. 84927-1 I

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

HEADWORKS HAND CRAFTED ALES, INC. dba
HEADWORKS BREWING, a Washington Corporation,
Appellant

v.

WASHINGTON STATE LIQUOR AND CANNABIS BOARD,

Respondent

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Law Office of Daniel J. Neilsen, PLLC Daniel J. Neilsen, WSBA 41413 23745 225th Way SE, Suite 205 Maple Valley, WA 98038 425-429-0831 djn@djnlawoffice.com

IV.	STATEMENT OF THE CASE
IV.	ARGUMENT6
	A. The Court of Appeals' Order Conflicts with Other Washington Supreme Court Opinions Acknowledging the Limitations of Agency Power and is a Matter of Substantial Public Interest Because it Renders the LCB's Police Powers Limitless

	1. The Legislature Did Not Authorize the LCB to Enforce an Order by the Secretary of Health9
	2. The Board of Health Has the Power and Enforcement Authority to Respond to Issues of the Pandemic
	B. The LCB Failed to Implement and Enforce the Mask Mandate Pursuant to the APA and its Own Rules
V.	CONCLUSION28

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Table of cases

Davis v. Mich. Dep't of Treasury, 489 U.S. 803, 809, 109 S. Ct. 1500, 103 L. Ed. 2d 891 (1989)
Dep't of Revenue v. Fed. Deposit Ins. Corp., 190 Wn. App. 150, 157-58, 359 P.3d 913 (2015)
Dolan v. U.S. Postal Serv., 546 U.S. 481, 486 (2006) 13
Employco Pers. Servs., Inc. v. City of Seattle, 117 Wn.2d 606, 614, 817 P.2d 1373 (1991)
17
Food Mktg. Inst. V. Argus Leader Media, 139 S. Ct. 2356, 2364 (2019)
Health Freedom Defense Fund, Inc., Ana Carolina Daza and Sarah Pope. v. Joseph R. Biden, Jr., et al., US Dist. Ct. Middle Dist. FL, Case No. 8:21-cv-1693-KKM-AEP (April 18, 2022)
Human Rights Comm'n v. Cheney Sch. Dist. 30, 97 Wash.2d 118, 125, 641 P.2d 163 (1982)
<i>In re Puget Sound Pilots Ass 'n</i> . 63 Wn.2d 142, 146 n.3, 385 P.2d 711 (1963)
Jongeward v. BNSF Ry. Co., 174 Wn.2d 586, 595, 278 P.3d 157 (2012)
Jow Sin Quan v. Wash. State Liquor Control Bd., 69 Wn. 373, 379, 418 P.2d 424
(1966)11

Kaiser Aluminum & Chem. Corp. v. Dep't of Labor & Indus., 121 Wash.2d 776, 780, 854 P.2d 611
(1993)
Rettkowski v. Dept. of Ecology, 122 Wn.2d 219, 227, 858 P.2d 232, 237 (1993)
Skagit Surveyors & Eng'rs, LLC v. Friends of Skagit Cnty.,135 Wash.2d 542, 558, 958 P.2d 962 (1998)8, 14
State v. Bash, 130 Wn.2d 594, 602, 925 P.2d 978 (1996)18
West Virginia v. EPA, 597 U.S, at p. 24, 142 S.Ct. 2587, 2609 (2022)
WASHINGTON STATE CONSTITUTION
Article XX, § 1
Statutes
RCW 34.0523
RCW 34.05.35024 -25
RCW 43.20.0520
RCW 43.20.05014
RCW 43.70.09516

RCW 43.70.200
RCW 43.70.190
RCW 66.●8.●1●
RCW 66.08.0306, 9, 10, 12, 23
RCW 66.08.0509
RCW 7€.26
RCW 70.0 5. 0 7 0
Regulations and Rules
WAC 246.100
WAC 314-11- 0 15
OTHER AUTHORITIES
ANTONIN SCALIA & BRYAN A. GARNER, READING LAW: THE INTERPRETATION OF LEGAL TEXT 418
(2012)

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Appellant Headworks Hand Crafted Ales Inc., dba

Headworks Brewing, a Washington Corporation ("Headworks")

asks the Court to accept review of the unpublished Court of

Appeals decision terminating review designated in Part II.

II. CITATION TO COURT OF APPEALS' DECISION

Headworks requests review of *Headworks Hand Crafted*Ales, Inc., dba Headworks Brewing v. Washington State Liquor

and Cannabis Board, No. 84927-1-I, Court of Appeals Division

I.

On January 2, 2024, the Court of Appeals issued an order affirming the Liquor Cannabis Board's ("LCB") final order affirming violations issued by the LCB against Headworks for failing to comply with Secretary of Health's "Mask Mandate" order related to the Covid-19 pandemic. ("Headworks Decision")

A copy of the Headworks Decision is in the Appendix at pages A-1 through A-16. Neither party filed a motion to publish.

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Does the Liquor Cannabis Board Have Statutory
 Authority to Enforce an Order Issued by the Secretary of
 Health
- 2. Was the Liquor Cannabis Board's enforcement of the Mask Mandate without a proper rulemaking under the Administrative Procedure Act unlawful for not providing proper notice of the enforcement provisions to its licensees?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On February 29, 2020, Governor Inslee issued

Proclamation 20.05 ("Proclamation"), which declared a State of

Emergency for all counties in the State due to the coronavirus

outbreak. The proclamation was were amended several times

during the Pandemic. CP at 473¹ The Governor's amended

Proclamations led to a complete shut-down of all non-essential

2

¹ See also, https://www.governor.wa.gov/office-governor/official-actions/proclamations.

businesses with a gradual reopening of those businesses under certain limitations. *Id.* One of those limitations, based on Secretary of Health Order No 20-3.6 et seq., was that restaurants and bars would be allowed to stay open so long as individuals maintained social distancing, wore facemasks upon entering the facility only to be removed when sitting down, and that employees of such establishments wear facemasks. Id.; CP at 330-334. This requirement has come to be known as, and is referred to hereinafter as, the "Mask Mandate". CP at 330-334. The Mask Mandate issued by the Secretary of Health Order No. 20-3.5 et seq., specifies that certain individuals are exempt from wearing the mask. *Id.* While the Secretary of Health issued the order regarding the Mask Mandate, the legislature never proposed any legislation that would make the Mask Mandate into a law. CP at 472.

Petitioner Headworks is a hand-crafted brewery that offers its beer for sale and for customers to drink at its tasting room in Enumclaw, WA. It has been issued a license by the

Washington State Liquor Cannabis Board (LCB). CP at 470. Shortly after the Secretary of Health's Order 20-3.5 was executed, the LCB began informing its licensees that it would issue and enforce violations to licensees who failed to enforce the Mask Mandate. CP at 472.

LCB never formally adopted the Mask Mandate as a rule under the Administrative Procedure Act ("APA"). It held that any failure for a person to follow the Mask Mandate was a "threat to public safety" pursuant to WAC 314.11.015. CP at 472; CP at 518-520.

The LCB issued Headworks an Administrative Violation Notice ("AVN") on November 29, 2021, as a result of an alleged violation of the Mask Mandate. CP 320-321. The AVN indicated that the violation was a "COVID-19 related complaint", that the applicable enforcement authority was WAC 314.11.015, and that the penalty was a 5-day suspension or \$500 fine. CP at 320.

Headworks appealed LCB's AVN, filed a motion for summary judgment and argued that the Mask Mandate was inappropriately enforced because the Governor's Proclamations 20.05 and the Secretary of Health's orders are not laws, passed by the Washington State legislature and therefore not binding on Headworks and its employees. CP at 644.

Headworks further contended that the LCB acted unlawfully inasmuch as the LCB did not adhere to the Administrative Procedure Act rulemaking process, including allowing for public comment, before enforcing the Mask Mandate pursuant to WAC 314-11-015(3)(c). CP at 644.

The Office of Administrative Hearings (OAH) upheld the AVN and upon a petition for review, the Board affirmed. CP 670-675. Headworks appealed to the Court of Appeals, Div. I, which affirmed the Board's decision in an Opinion dated January 2, 2024.

V. ARGUMENT

A. The Court of Appeals' Order Conflicts with Other Washington Supreme Court Opinions Acknowledging the Limitations of Agency Power and is a Matter of Substantial Public Interest Because it Renders the LCB's Police Powers Limitless

agency extends beyond the statutory authority prescribed it by the legislature to regulate "the sale of liquor kept by holder of licenses which entitle the holder to purchase and keep liquor for sale." RCW 66.08.030(6). A-17. The LCB issued its violation to enforce the mask mandate pursuant to WAC 314-11-015(3)(c), which provides that licensees and employees may not "[e]ngage in or allow behavior that provokes conduct which presents a threat to public safety." WAC 314-11-015(3)(c). A-19.

The LCB's powers and duties are confined to the regulation, sale, consumption and distribution of alcohol and cannabis. It does not extend broadly to responses to pandemics,

especially when that duty is specifically prescribed to the Board of Health.

The LCB's proposed enforcement of the mask mandate as a "threat to public safety", is outside its scope of powers because that specific enforcement does not originate within the powers provided to it by the legislature under RCW Title 66. Rather it is derived from the Secretary of Health's order. In the case of Headworks, the LCB has literally become an enforcement arm of the Secretary of Health. The Court of Appeals failed to appreciate this crucial point, which is fond nowhere in the statutory scheme for either agency.

The LCB's enforcement of a separate agency's order, and the Court of Appeals' affirmation, contradicts the Supreme Court's opinions describing the scope of agency authority. This Court has repeatedly held that administrative agencies are creatures of the legislature, "without inherent or common-law powers and, as such, may exercise only those powers conferred

by statute, either expressly or by necessary implication." Skagit Surveyors & Eng'rs, LLC v. Friends of Skagit Cnty., 135 Wash. 2d 542, 558, 958 P.2d 962 (1998) (citing *Kaiser Aluminum* & Chem. Corp. v. Dep't of Labor & Indus., 121 Wash.2d 776, 780, 854 P.2d 611 (1993); Human Rights Comm'n v. Cheney Sch. Dist. 30, 97 Wash.2d 118, 125, 641 P.2d 163 (1982))." The power of an administrative tribunal to fashion a remedy is strictly limited by statute." Skagit Surveyors, 135 Wash.2d at 558, 958 P.2d 962. The authority claimed by LCB to operate as an arm of the Health Department is not expressly provided in statute. No "necessary implication" has been offered to justify what LCB has done to Headworks in this matter. Thus, the decision of the Court of Appeals directly conflicts with this Court's prior holdings on the subject.

Such an expansive interpretation of the LCB's powers is a matter of substantial public interest because it renders the LCB's police power limitless.

1. The Legislature Did Not Authorize the LCB to Enforce an Order by the Secretary of Health.

The powers of the LCB are prescribed in RCW 66.08.050 (A-21) and the scope of its regulations are set forth in RCW 66.08.030. A-19.

There are eight subsections of RCW 66.08.050 that enumerate the requirements of the LCB. None of those subsections reference a duty or an opportunity for the LCB to enforce the orders of a separate agency, let alone those of the Secretary of Health. While issues of public health are addressed in Subsection (6), those powers extend to the LCB's requirement to:

(6) Accept and deposit into the general fund-local account and disburse, subject to appropriation, federal grants or other funds or donations from any source <u>for the purpose</u> <u>of improving public awareness of the health risks</u> associated with alcohol and cannabis consumption by youth and the abuse of alcohol and cannabis by adults in Washington state....

RCW 66.08.050(6). A-21

RCW 66.08.030 sets forth 21 additional powers of the LCB under the Scope of Regulations. Of the 21 powers extended

to the LCB, nothing references any authority to enforce an order by the Secretary of Health or any other executive branch agency. It does, however, reference issues of public health under Subsection (19) which provides the power to conduct "... from time to time, in the interest of the public health and general welfare, scientific studies and research relating to alcoholic beverages and the use and effect thereof." RCW 66.08.030(19). A-17

The Court of Appeals, however, relied on Subsection (12), which states that the LCB's power to make regulations extends to: "Prescribing the conditions, accommodations, and qualifications requisite for the obtaining of licenses to sell beer, wines, and spirits, and regulating the sale of beer, wines, and spirits thereunder." 66.08.030(12). A-17. The Court of Appeals then expanded the limits of that provision to state that, "There can be no question but that the [LCB], in the interests of public health, safety, and morals, possesse[s] the constitutional and statutory power to control and regulate the dispensation of

alcoholic beverages." *Jow Sin Quan v. Wash. State Liquor Control Bd.*, 69 Wn. 373, 379, 418 P.2d 424 (1966). That case is inapposite.

The Court of Appeals failed to recognize: (1) that *Jow Sin Quan* was not an issue regarding LCB's enforcement of a "threat to public safety"; and (2) that the LCB was enforcing a law pursuant to rules that the LCB had propertly adopted.

There, the LCB enforced a licensee's violation of RCW 9.76.010, which made it a misdemeanor to sell alcoholic beverages on Sunday. *Jow Sin Quan* at 374, 425. The LCB's authority to enforce that particular RCW was specifically reflected in its Rules under WAC 314-16-050.² Those rules

² "No retail licensee shall sell, deliver, offer for sale, serve or allow to be consumed upon the licensed premises any liquor, nor permit the removal of any liquor from the licensed premises in any manner whatsoever,...between the hours of twelve o'clock midnight on Saturday and six o'clock a.m. on the following Monday, ..." WAC 314-16-050 (REPEALED).

mirror the intent of the RCW of which the licensee in *Jow Sin*Quan was in violation.

Here, the Court of Appeals' "connection" between RCW 66.08.030(12) and the ability to enforce a rule by the Secretary of Health as being a "threat to public safety" is fractured because there is no direct link between the Secretary of Health's order and the rule to enforce "threats to public safety" --an undefined term within the Title. Throughout this case, LCB has assumed without proof that the Mask Mandate mitigated or prevented "threats to public safety."

Nevertheless, the Court of Appeals justifies its connection between RCW 66.08.030 (12) and enforcement of the Secretary's mask mandate as a threat to public safety by referencing RCW 66.08.010 which provides, "This entire title shall be deemed an exercise of the police power of the state, for the protection of the welfare, health, peace, morals and safety of the people of the state, and all its provisions shall be liberally

construed for the accomplishment of that purpose." RCW 66.08.010. A-24

Under the LCB's application, "public safety" has a broad meaning and interpretation vast enough to allow the LCB to enforce anything that it deems to be a threat. "Because common words typically have more than one meaning, you must use the context in which a given word appears to determine its aptest, most likely sense." See ANTONIN SCALIA & BRYAN A. GARNER, READING LAW: THE INTERPRETATION OF LEGAL TEXT 418 (2012); accord; Dolan v. U.S. Postal Serv., 546 U.S. 481, 486 (2006). To know which meaning the Legislature intended in WAC 314.11.015—public safety—the court must rely on the statute's context, including the surrounding words, the statute's structure and history and common usage at the time." See Food Mktg. Inst. V. Argus Leader Media, 139 S. Ct. 2356, 2364 (2019) ("In statutory interpretation disputes, a court's proper starting point lies in a

careful examination of the ordinary meaning and structure of the law itself.").

As set forth in detail above, the LCB's power to address issues of public health (but not "public safety") are enumerated in its powers and scope of regulations. It is those sections within the title that are to be "liberally construed" because those are the specific powers granted the LCB by the legislature—powers within the "Title" to be "liberally construed".

Here, taking into account the context in which the given words appear, the Court of Appeals' interpretation of the Title is not a *liberal* construction, it is a *new* construction, fashioning a remedy under its own powers to enforce the Secretary of Health's Order where none currently exists. Skagit Surveyors, 135 Wash.2d at 558, 958 P.2d 962 (1998).

2. The Board of Health Has the Power and Enforcement Authority to Respond to Issues of the Pandemic.

The authority to create regulations for the prevention and control of infectious diseases rests with the State Board of

Health, created specifically in the Constitution, Article XX, § 1.

A-25. The legislature gave the Board of Health, and not any other state official or agency, the authority to create regulations for "the prevention and control of infections... diseases." RCW 43.20.050(2)(f). A-26. Rules from the Board of Health are enforced by local boards of health. RCW 70.05.070. A-30. Regulations are set forth in WAC 246 and the response to communicable diseases is set forth specifically in WAC 246.100. See WAC 246.100.006. A-31. Nowhere in the cited RCW or WAC is there a reference to the LCB and nowhere is there any indication that the LCB falls under any jurisdiction of the Board of Health or its Secretary.

In 2006, the legislature specifically took the time to enact legislation for responses to pandemics, when it passed the "Pandemic Influenza Preparedness" Bill, codified now at RCW 70.26. See RCW 70.26.010 A-32. RCW 70.26.020 sets forth the legislature's intents and findings. A-33.

The legislature clearly anticipated a pandemic and delegated that authority specifically to public health jurisdictions statewide. *Id.* Even while acknowledging requirements for flexibility, nowhere in RCW 70.26 is the LCB mentioned and nowhere in the law does the legislature permit the Governor, Board of Health or local health departments to delegate any authority regarding the response to pandemics to the LCB.

Enforcement authority is set forth in RCW 43.70.200:

"Upon the request of a local health officer, the secretary of health is hereby authorized and empowered to take legal action to enforce the public health laws and rules and regulations of the state board of health or local rules and regulations within the jurisdiction served by the local health department...." RCW 43.70.200. A-34. The Secretary of Health may also "bring an action to enjoin a violation or the threatened violation of any of the provisions of the public health laws of this state or any rules or regulation made by the state board of health or the department of health pursuant to said laws, or may bring any legal

proceeding authorized by law...." RCW 43.70.190. A-35. Civil fines of the Department of Health are set forth in RCW 43.70.095. A-36.

Thus, the Secretary of Health has ample opportunity and authority to enforce any rule or law under its power should such enforcement be deemed necessary.³ Consequently LCB's proposal that it has the authority to enforce the Secretary's Order is both unnecessary and legally meaningless.

Whenever possible, statutes are to be read together to achieve a "'harmonious total statutory scheme ... which maintains the integrity of the respective statutes." *Dep't of Revenue v. Fed. Deposit Ins. Corp.*, 190 Wn. App. 150, 157-58, 359 P.3d 913 (2015) (quoting *Employco Pers. Servs., Inc. v. City of Seattle*, 117 Wn.2d 606, 614, 817 P.2d 1373 (1991)). An interpretation that reads language in isolation is too limited and

³ Headworks continues to note that the Secretary of Health's ability to enforce its own Order also remains questionable inasmuch as it is not a "law, rule or regulation."

fails to apply this rule. *Jongeward v. BNSF Ry. Co.*, 174 Wn.2d 586, 595, 278 P.3d 157 (2012); *see Davis v. Mich. Dep't of Treasury*, 489 U.S. 803, 809, 109 S. Ct. 1500, 103 L. Ed. 2d 891 (1989) ("It is a fundamental canon of statutory construction that the words of a statute must be read in their context and with a view to their place in the overall statutory scheme."). The construction of two statutes shall be made with the assumption that the legislature does not intend to create an inconsistency. *State v. Bash*, 130 Wn.2d 594, 602, 925 P.2d 978 (1996).

LCB's application is analogous to that of the Department of Ecology ("Ecology") in *Rettkowski* when Ecology sought to issue orders addressing senior water rights while such adjudications were vested with the Superior Courts of the State of Washington. *Rettkowski v. Dept. of Ecology*,122 Wn. 2d 219, 227, 858 P.2d 232, 237 (1993). There, Ecology argued that the power to issue such orders and adjudicate those matters was derived from an inherent authority to protect senior water rights and issue regulatory orders whenever it appeared to Ecology

that a person is or about to violate any provision of the Water Code. Id at 227. Noting the "broad enabling statutes" to be silent as to how Ecology is to determine water rights in a regulatory action, and that such silence was even more telling when compared to the elaborate general adjudication process for determining water rights entrusted to superior courts, the Court found that "nowhere in Ecology's enabling statutes was [Ecology] vested with similar authority to conduct general adjudications or even regulatory adjudications of water." Id. at 237. The Court therefore held that the absence of a specific grant to an agency to determine certain issues, coupled with an explicit grant to another branch of government to determine those exact matters, makes the agency's determination ultra vires. *Id.* The same applies here, yet the Court of Appeals failed to recognize that.

Moreover, in publishing its opinion, the appeals court created a new power for the LCB, but establishing laws is no its province.

That is exactly the case here. LCB sought to enforce an order issued by Secretary of Health, who has specific power to respond to pandemics and issue rules for the enforcement thereof.

The LCB's enforcement of the Secretary of Health's

Mask Mandate also serves as an unlawful delegation of power
from a separate agency.

It is a general principle of law, expressed in the maxim "delegatus non potest delegare," that a delegated power may not be further delegated by the person to whom such power is delegated....Merely ministerial functions may be delegated to assistants whose employment is authorized, but there is no authority to delegate acts discretionary or quasi-judicial in nature....

In re Puget Sound Pilots Asso. 63 Wn.2d 142, 146, 385 p.2d 711, 713 (1963). That is, again, clearly the case here where the LCB is choosing to enforce an order by another agency to which certain powers—specifically powers regarding response to pandemics—is vested.

To be sure, the Secretary of Health could have had its rules enforced by a separate agency had it gone through the proper rulemaking. RCW 43.20.05(5) provides that opportunity:

All local boards of health, health authorities and officials, officers of state institutions, police officers, sheriffs, constables, and all other officers and employees of the state, or any county, city, or township thereof, shall enforce all rules adopted by the state board of health.

RCW 43.20.050(5) (Emphasis added). A-26

Such a process was not undertaken by the Secretary or Board of Health and the consequent delegation of authority to the LCB (or more accurately the assumption of such authority by the LCB) from the Secretary of Health is unlawful.

Issues of Agency Power have been addressed at length at the Federal level by the US Supreme Court: "Agencies have only those powers given to them by [the legislative authority], and 'enabling legislation' is generally not an 'open book to which the agency [may] add pages and change the plot line." West

Virginia v. EPA, 597 U.S. ___, at p. 24, 142 S.Ct. 2587, 2609 (2022) (citation omitted).

At issue in West Virginia v. EPA was whether the EPA had the authority to enact rules addressing carbon dioxide pollution for existing power plants by requiring power plants to reduce their own production of electricity, or subsidize increased generation by natural gas, wind, or solar sources. In West Virginia, the U.S. Supreme Court reviewed the body of law forming the major questions doctrine which addresses a "particular and recurring problem: agencies asserting highly consequential power beyond what Congress could reasonably be understood to have granted." West Virginia, 597 U.S. at 69-74 (Food and Drug Administration claim for authority over drugs and devices does not include power to regulate and ban tobacco products; Centers for Disease Control and Prevention claim for authority to prevent the spread of disease does not include power to institute nationwide eviction moratorium; Environmental Protection Administration claim for authority to

construe the term "air pollutant" does not include power to regulate hotels and office buildings; Occupational Safety and Health Administration's claim for authority over occupational hazards does not include power to mandate COVID-19 vaccines). The Supreme Court in *West Virginia* was clear in its holding: an agency "must point to 'clear [legislative] authorization' for the power it claims." *West Virginia*, 597 U.S. at 24 (emphasis added).

B. The LCB Failed to Implement and Enforce the Mask Mandate Pursuant to the APA and its Own Rules

The LCB failed to acknowledge that because it had no specific authority to enforce the wearing of face masks pursuant to the Governor's proclamation (a situation not contemplated by its existing rules), that it must enact its rules of enforcement pursuant to the Administrative Procedure Act ("APA").

The LCB must follow the processes and procedures pursuant to Washington's APA, codified at RCW 34.05. See RCW 66.08.030. A-17.

In response to Headworks' argument on this issue, the Court of Appeals criticized Headworks' argument: "Providing no relevant authority or analysis in support of its assertion, Headworks also contends that the LCB was required to promulgate a new regulation in order to enforce an existing regulation (WAC 314-11-015(3)) and that the enforcement of the existing regulation without a new regulation violates due process." Opinion at 13 fn 9.

The Court of Appeals confuses Headworks' argument. Headworks argued that the enforcement of the Mask Mandate did not and does not fall within LCB's statutory authority and therefore no rule exists to enforce the Mask Mandate. However, Headworks asserted that if the Court should find that statutory authority exists to enforce such a mandate, the LCB should have, at the very least, followed the APA to adopt a rule specifically putting its licensees on notice of the processes and reasoning it would take to enforce the Mask Mandate and fine its licensees.

Indeed, in situations of emergency, as the LCB claims here, the LCB has specific authority to take emergency action under RCW 34.05.350:

- (1) If an agency for good cause finds:
- (a) That immediate adoption, amendment, or repeal of a rule is necessary for the preservation of the public health, safety, or general welfare, and that observing the time requirements of notice and opportunity to comment upon adoption of a permanent rule would be contrary to the public interest;

* * *

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