FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 4/1/2024 12:52 PM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

NO. 102773-7

#### SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

HEADWORKS HAND CRAFTED ALES, INC. dba HEADWORKS BREWING,

Appellant,

v.

# WASHINGTON STATE LIQUOR AND CANNABIS BOARD,

Respondent.

## **ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW**

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

Jason W. Miller Assistant Attorney General WSBA No. 56675 1125 Washington Street SE P.O. Box 40100 Olympia, WA 98504-0100

# **

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

#### **IV. REASONS FOR DENYING REVIEW**

Under longstanding LCB regulations, a liquor licensee cannot "engage in or allow . . . conduct which presents a threat to public safety" on its licensed premises. WAC 314-11-015(3)(c). The Secretary of Health "expressly defined COVID-19 as a threat to public safety and required masking to address that threat." *Headworks*, 540 P.3d at 872; *see* CP 330. In light of that definition, the LCB properly recognized "that refusing to wear face masks during the pandemic at a public establishment on licensed premises constituted a threat to public safety" and a violation of WAC 314-11-015. *Headworks*, 540 P.3d at 872; *see* CP 670.

This Court should deny review because the Court of Appeals decision affirming the Board's determination is

consistent with precedent on the scope of the LCB's authority, and Headworks' arguments fail to raise an issue of substantial public interest.<sup>7</sup>

# A. Headworks Fails to Demonstrate that the Court of Appeals' Decision Conflicts with Precedent

Headworks asserts the decision below conflicts with precedent solely because Headworks mistakenly believes the LCB has exceeded its authority, based on a misguided belief that the danger posed by COVID-19 is categorically different from all other threats to public safety.

The LCB is well within its authority to regulate "the sale of liquor kept by the holders of licenses," RCW 66.08.030(6), and prescribe "the conditions, accommodations, and qualifications requisite for the obtaining of licenses to sell beer,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Notably, Headworks appears to have largely abandoned its challenge to the underlying validity of the mask mandate. *See Headworks*, 540 P.3d at 870 (citing numerous cases that "directly contradict Headworks' assertion that the [G]overnor's emergency powers do not extend to issues stemming from a pandemic").

wines, and spirits, and [regulate] the sale of beer, wines, and spirits thereunder[.]" RCW 66.08.030(12).

The Liquor Control Act is "an exercise of the police power of the state, for the protection of the welfare, health, peace, morals, and safety of the people of the state, and all its provisions shall be liberally construed for the accomplishment of that purpose." RCW 66.08.010. "There can be no question but that the [LCB], in the interests of public health, safety, and morals, [possesses] the constitutional and statutory power to control and regulate the dispensation of alcoholic beverages." *Jow Sin Quan v. Liquor Control Bd.*, 69 Wn.2d 373, 379, 418 P.2d 424 (1966)

Administrative agencies have implied authority to carry out their legislatively mandated purposes. *Tuerk v. Dep't of Licensing*, 123 Wn.2d 120, 125, 864 P.2d 1382 (1994) (quoting *State ex rel. Puget Sound Navigation Co. v. Dep't of Transp.*, 33 Wn.2d 448, 481, 206 P.2d 456 (1949), and *State ex rel. R.R. Comm'n v. Great N. Ry. Co.*, 68 Wash. 257, 123 P. 8 (1912)); *See also* RCW 66.98.070. While the LCB's officers could not issue a citation to a non-licensed business or individual whose conduct presented a risk to the public safety, it has clear authority to hold a business the LCB has licensed accountable for employee conduct and any behavior that business allows on its licensed premises.

There are other LCB rules that, while not directly related to the sale of alcoholic beverages, still regulate conduct on licensed premises in the interest of public safety. For example, WAC 314-11-015(3)(a) prohibits disorderly people from remaining on licensed premises, regardless of whether the disorderly conduct is the result of alcohol consumption. WAC 314-11-015(3)(g) prohibits the consumption of cannabis on licensed premises. WAC 314-11-015(4) prohibits a licensee or employee from dancing or spending time with a patron for compensation. Each of these rules prohibits certain types of conduct on licensed premises, regardless of whether any of the individuals involved have purchased or consumed an alcoholic beverage on the premises. Under each rule, the licensee may be held responsible for allowing the prohibited conduct to occur.

Headworks appears to argue that state agencies cannot respond to the outbreak of a pandemic viral pathogen or similar emergent public health risk, without express statutory delegation of authority that specifically relates to infectious disease. Petition at 14-21. However, in reality, a delegation of legislative power to the executive "is not improper simply because it is broad." *Sehmel v. Shah*, 23 Wn. App. 2d 182, 194, 514 P.3d 1238, 1245 (2022) (citing *Barry & Barry, Inc. v. Dep't of Motor Vehicles*, 81 Wn. 2d 155, 159, 500 P.2d 540 (1972)). As the Court of Appeals correctly concluded below:

[It] is indisputable that threats to public safety come in all shapes and sizes; the phrasing of the delegation of authority from our state legislature to the LCB is inherently broad and flexible so as to encapsulate and address unforeseeable events, such as those which unfolded as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic.

Headworks, 540 P.3d at 872. Headworks' Petition fails to demonstrate how the Court of Appeals' holding "directly

conflicts" with this Court's precedent on scope of agency authority, beyond repeated conclusory exaggerations. Petition at 7-8.

By ignoring the mask mandate, Headworks was selling and serving alcohol in a manner that jeopardized the public's health and safety, in violation of WAC 314-11-015(3). The LCB has broad authority to control and regulate the dispensation of alcoholic beverages, and that authority is not arbitrarily limited in application when alcohol sales continue to occur during a viral pandemic.

## B. LCB Properly Interpreted and Applied the Term "Public Safety" in WAC 314-11-015(3)

The Court of Appeals correctly held that the LCB's determination of what "constituted a threat to public safety under WAC 314-11-015(3)(c) was not an overly broad interpretation of the regulation." *Headworks*, 540 P.3d at 872. This holding neither conflicts with other precedent nor raises an issue of substantial public interest.

Headworks' broad claim that the Court of Appeals' decision "renders the LCB's police power limitless" is unfounded. Petition at 8. "While it is true that the APA is designed to provide 'greater public and legislative access to administrative decision making,' . . . it is equally true that the APA's provisions were not designed to serve as the straitjacket of administrative action." Budget Rent A Car Corp. v. Dep't of Licensing, 144 Wn.2d 889, 898, 31 P.3d 1174 (2001) (quoting RCW 34.05.001). "Washington courts have repeatedly held that agencies are empowered to interpret a statute or regulation without going through formal rule making procedures." Providence Physician Servs. Co. v. Dep't of Health, 196 Wn. App. 709, 726, 384 P.3d 658 (2016). Examples include agency interpretations of phrases like: "the total of all passenger cars in the fleet,"<sup>8</sup> "sale or issuance,"<sup>9</sup> "group practice [of] private

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Budget, 144 Wn.2d at 893, 897–98.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> *Regan v. Dep't of Licensing*, 130 Wn. App. 39, 55, 121 P.3d 731 (2005).

physicians,"<sup>10</sup> and even a refined definition of the word "reasonable."<sup>11</sup> The LCB was not required to promulgate a new regulation in order to enforce a preexisting regulation regarding threats to public safety on the premises of an LCB-licensed business.

The LCB's Final Order interprets and applies the term "public safety" in WAC 314-11-015(3) to include compliance with the minimal level of COVID-19 safety precautions required by the Secretary of Health's Order 20-03. CP 670. The COVID-19 pandemic was a "public disaster" that endangered the life, health, and livelihood of every individual in this state. CP 347, 350; *see generally* CP 354-442. The danger was real, and ignoring it risked the safety of Headworks' employees and threatened the public's safety at large. Headworks' flouting of clear and unambiguous safety precautions required by a disaster

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> Providence Physician Servs. Co. v. Dep't of Health, 196 Wn. App. 709, 719, 384 P.3d 658 (2016)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> McGee Guest Home, Inc. v. Dep't of Soc. & Health Servs., 96 Wn. App. 804, 812, 981 P.2d 459 (1999)

proclamation and statewide public health order was a threat to public safety. The LCB properly interpreted and applied WAC 314-11-015(3).

#### C. Headworks Fails to Raise an Issue of Substantial Public Interest

Contrary to the Petitioner's unsubstantiated allegations, the LCB did not "operate as an arm of the Health Department" nor was it "directed to do so by the executive (governor) of the executive branch." Petition at 8, 25. To be clear, this case involves the LCB, based on first hand observations of LCB enforcement officers, issuing a citation to an LCB-licensed business for violation of an LCB-adopted rule. The LCB's enforcement of WAC 314-11-015(3)(c) was consistent with rule's plain language prohibiting licensees from allowing conduct that presents a threat to public safety.

As the Court of Appeals accurately summarized:

The record before us establishes that the LCB received a total of seven public complaints regarding the customers and employees of Headworks failing to comply with the mask mandate in the midst of a global pandemic. Before

issuing the AVN, LCB enforcement visited Headworks, spoke with employees and the manager, and issued a written warning that included guidance on the mask mandate for employers. Headworks still failed to comply.

*Headworks*, 540 P.3d at 872. Headworks was not confused about the mask mandate, or unaware of its responsibilities as an LCBlicensed business. As further noted by the Court of Appeals, "[t]he record shows . . . that staff directly told the LCB enforcement officer prior to the issuance of the AVN that the mask mandate was not lawful and they would not comply." *Id.* at 872 n.11. Headworks simply did not want to comply with the rules and disregarded the resultant risk posed to the public. The \$500 monetary penalty was more than appropriate. Headworks has not demonstrated that this is a matter of substantial public interest.

#### V. CONCLUSION

Headworks refused to require its employees to wear a face covering while working, despite repeated warnings from the LCB's enforcement officers. Headworks' cavalier approach to a public health emergency endangered its employees, patrons, and the surrounding community. Through indifference, Headworks allowed conduct on its licensed premises that was "a threat to public safety," within the plain meaning of WAC 314-11-015(3).

Headworks' arguments fail to raise an issue of substantial public interest. The Court of Appeals appropriately addressed Headworks' arguments and, consistent with precedent, dismissed them. This Court should deny discretionary review.

This document contains 3,023 words, excluding the parts of the document exempted from the word count by RAP 18.17. RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED this 1st day of April,

2024.

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

JASON W. MILLER, WSBA #56675 Assistant Attorney General Attorneys for the Washington State Liquor and Cannabis Board